s S 225589



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROLLAND JACKS and ROVE ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants

vs.

SUPREME COURT

CITY OF SANTA BARBARA,

Defendant and Respondent.

APR - 7 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deputy

Of a Published Decision of the Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B253474

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Barbara, Case No. 1383959 Honorable Thomas P.Anderle, Judge Presiding

ARIEL PIERRE CALONNE,
City Attorney (110268)
TOM R. SHAPIRO,
Asst. City Attorney (127383)
TShapiro@santabarbaraca.gov
CITY OF SANTA BARBARA
P.O. Box 1990

QUESTIONS FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Board of Equalization (1997) 15

 Cal.4th 866 survive Proposition 26¹ and, if so, to what extent?
- 2. Do the requirements of Propositions 13,² 218, and 26³ for voter approval of taxes limit constitutional municipal powers to regulate utilities operating in a city⁴ and to franchise such utilities?⁵
- 3. Does a franchise fee for use of public rights of way become a tax if its proceeds are used for a municipality's general fund purposes?

¹ Cal. Const., art. XIII B, § 3, subd. (b); art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).

² Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 4.

³ Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 2.

⁴ Cal. Const., art. II, § 9, subd. (b).

⁵ Cal. Const., art. XII, § 8.

4. In identifying charges exempted from Proposition 26's definition of "tax," may a court look to charges' **economic** rather than **legal** incidence?

INTRODUCTION

Franchise agreements have long been held to be matters of contract between investor-owned entities and municipalities that own rights of way in which they operate. Franchises and franchise fees are expressly authorized by our Constitution and excluded from its definition of the "taxes" which require voter approval. The Court of Appeal's opinion below ("the Opinion") undermines this understanding of settled law — and all municipal franchise agreements.

No court previously suggested a franchise fee is a tax requiring voter approval under 1978's Proposition 13, 1986's Proposition 62, 1996's Proposition 218 or 2010's Proposition 26. Few, if any, franchise agreements are limited to the cost of public services to franchisees or their customers, yet the Opinion newly imposes that limit, citing this Court's decision applying Proposition 13 to regulatory fees in *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Board of Equalization* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866 ("Sinclair Paint"). Thus, the Opinion reads Propositions 13 and 26 to impliedly repeal or to narrow article XI,

⁶ Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)(4); art. XIII A, § 3, subd. (b)(4).

section 9, subdivision (b)⁷ and article XII, section 8⁸ without citing those provisions.

The Opinion also suggests that, instead of analyzing a revenue measure's **legal** incidence — on whom legislation imposes the duty to pay — courts may examine its **economic** incidence — who bears that duty in light of the relative market power of the parties to a given transaction. This conflicts with precedent and invites challenge to every revenue measure assessed on payors who have market power to impose it on others.

These conclusions undermine a vital municipal revenue source, fail to harmonize our Constitution's provisions, and muddle the law of public revenues. This Court should grant review.

⁷ Article XI, section 9 is quoted at page 33 *infra*. Unspecified references in this Petition to articles and sections of articles are to the California Constitution.

⁸ This provision is quoted at pages 33–34 infra.

⁹ It may also be appropriate for this Court to grant review pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.512, subdivision (d) and defer briefing pending decision of *Citizens for Fair REU Rates v. City of Redding* (*Redding*), Case No. S224779, should this Court grant review there. *Redding* applies Proposition 26 to Redding's electricity utility and that city's practice of transferring proceeds of electric rates to its general fund as payments in lieu of property taxes the utility would pay if it were investor-owned. Grant and hold might also be appropriate with respect to a pending case on taxpayer standing

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. THE HISTORY AND IMPORTANCE OFFRANCHISE FEES

A. Case Law Has Long Afforded Chartered Cities Broad Authority to Set Franchise Terms

Cities and counties have had authority to charge utilities for the privilege of using public resources for the provision of electricity, water, telephone services, gas, and other utilities since the formation of our State. Article XI, section 19 of the 1879 Constitution, as amended in 1884, granted private utilities the right to use municipal rights of way to provide water and light. It partly — and temporarily — displaced the local authority to grant franchises now conferred by its present-day successor in article XI, section 9, subdivision (b) and by article XII, section 8. (See City of Santa Cruz v. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 1167, 1171 (Santa Cruz).)¹⁰ Because electric franchises under that Constitutional

under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a. (Wheatherford v. City of San Rafael, review granted Sept. 10, 2014, S219567.) Wheatherford also involves the distinction between the legal and economic incidence of local taxes.

¹⁰ A useful history of these provisions appears at Grodin, et al., The California State Constitution: A Reference Guide (1993) pp. 194–197 and 209–210.

provision were limited to the provision of "light," utilities negotiated "complementary" franchises which required payment of a fee to use those rights of way to provide gas or electricity for other purposes. (*Ibid.*) Progressive-era amendments to the Constitution repealed this "constitutional franchise" in 1911. (*Id.* at p. 1172.) A further amendment in 1914 shifted to the Public Utilities Commission most power to regulate investor-owned utilities' rates, but the local franchising power remained. (Grodin, et al., The California State Constitution: A Reference Guide (1993) p. 210.)

Even before the 1911 and 1914 amendments to our Constitution, the Legislature enacted the Broughton Act of 1905 to restore municipal power to grant franchises, but required bidding and limited fees to a percentage of receipts from the use of the franchise. (Pub. Util. Code, § 6001 et seq.; see Santa Cruz, supra, 82 Cal.App.4th at p. 1172.) The Broughton Act proved difficult to implement and was therefore supplemented by the 1937 Franchise Act, which eliminated the bidding requirement (Pub. Util. Code, § 6201 et seq.) and set the rate at 2 percent of the franchisee's receipts from use of the franchise or 1 percent of gross annual receipts from sales within the franchising municipality. (Pub. Util. Code, § 6231, subd. (c)). Chartered cities, of course, have direct constitutional authority, but are also authorized to implement these two statutes unless their charters provide otherwise. (Pub. Util. Code, §§ 6001, 6205; see Southern Pacific Pipe Lines, Inc. v. City of Long Beach (1988)

204 Cal.App.3d 660, 669–670 [general law allows chartered cities to adopt home-rule franchise regulations or to issue franchises under either Broughton or 1937 Franchise Acts].) As article XI, section 9, subdivision (b) and article XII, section 8 require, the Legislature has carefully preserved local autonomy as to franchises to ensure vital funding for local services. (E.g., Pub. Util. Code, § 6350 et seq. [imposing surcharge on utilities operating in city rights of way to replace franchise fees otherwise lost to changes in the regulatory environment such as "unbundling of the gas industry"].)

Franchise fees are typically negotiated between a city and the would-be franchisee and approved by ordinance — a legislative act subject to referendum. (See Cal. Municipal Law Handbook (Cont.Ed.Bar 2014) § 6.62; County of Kern v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1980) 108 Cal.App.3d 418, 421 [companies "awarded gas franchises through county ordinances, which were adopted by the County of Kern" and affirming ordinances' validity]; cf. Pub. Util. Code, § 6001.5 [preempting "the ordinance of any chartered municipality insofar as that ordinance governs the granting of franchises to construct [oil pipeline] facilities..." emphases added].) The 1937 Franchise Act authorizes local franchise awards for any term of years (Pub. Util. Code, § 6264) and cities have long had discretion on that and many other franchise provisions. (See Contra Costa County v. American Toll Bridge Co. (1937) 10 Cal.2d 359, 363 ["the public body making the grant can prescribe terms and conditions in the granting

and for the acceptance of a franchise" including fees]; *People ex rel. Spiers v. Lawley* (1911) 17 Cal.App. 331, 346–347 [franchise agreement construed as any writing]; *Santa Barbara County Taxpayer Assn. v. Board of Supervisors* (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 940, 949 (*Santa Barbara County Taxpayer Assn.*) [franchise fees not "proceeds of taxation" subject to Gann Limit of article XIII B (November 1979's Proposition 9): "A franchise is a negotiated contract between a private enterprise and a governmental entity for the long-term possession of land."].)

B. Franchise Fees Are a Significant Portion of Statewide Municipal Revenues

Franchise fees make up a significant percentage of municipal revenues, and defining franchise fees as taxes requiring voter approval would result in significant revenue losses for many cities. According to data gathered by the State Controller, California cities derived \$1.015 billion in franchise fees in fiscal year (FY) 2011–2012, the last year for which data are available. (Motion for Judicial Notice ("MJN"), Exh. A at p. MJN00014.) This averages \$61.40 per capita. (*Id.* at p. MJN00039.)

Cities' receipts vary greatly from the average, of course. The median city received 5.8 percent of its general fund revenues from franchise fees in FY 2011–2012. (MJN, Exh. A at p. MJN00064.) Many cities relied much more heavily on this source, including:

- Hemet 41.7% of general fund revenues
- Needles 29.7%
- Jurupa Valley 26.2%
- Lodi 26.0%
- Azusa 20.0%
- Arvin 19.3%
- Pittsburg 19.1%
- Monte Sereno 17.9%
- Adelanto 17.4%
- Fort Bragg 16.8%

(MJN, Exh. A at pp. MJN00064-MJN00076.)

Santa Barbara relies on franchise fees for 4.4 percent of its general revenues — almost \$3.7 million in FY 2011–2012. (MJN, Exh. A at pp. MJN00024, MJN00074.)

II. THE 1989 PUC RULING ON UTILITIES' RECOUPMENT OF FRANCHISE FEES

As the Opinion acknowledges, the Public Utilities Commission (PUC) requires investor-owned utilities subject to its regulation to distinguish some franchise fees from others. (Opinion, p. 3.) PUC Decision 89-05-063 ("the 1989 Decision") acknowledged the impact of Proposition 13 on municipal property tax receipts. (AA2:415–448.¹¹) It noted that, since Proposition 13, many cities had

¹¹ Citations to the Appellant's Appendix are in the form:

relied upon other charges — including utility user taxes ("UUT"), business license taxes, and transient occupancy (or hotel bed) taxes — to replace property taxes. (AA2:420.) The 1989 Decision noted that utilities were then recouping franchise fees from service fees on all customers in a utility service area which included the franchise — not just customers in the city which granted the franchise. (AA2:421.) This was perceived as unfair and the PUC therefore initiated the rulemaking which produced the 1989 Decision. (AA2:422.)

The 1989 Decision discusses many charges utilities pay municipalities — including utility user taxes, franchise fees, business license taxes, fees for permits to excavate in rights of way, parking and business improvement district assessments, natural gas storage fees, special taxes, property taxes, and other real-property and business assessments. (AA2:423–431, AA2:445–446 at ¶¶ 1(a)–1(d).) The PUC categorized these fees into classes which serve its regulatory purposes; it did not purport to determine the legal character of revenue measures or to interfere with the home rule power of a chartered city like Santa Barbara under article XI, section 5. In particular, the PUC was concerned with revenue measures which could result in a "significantly higher level of costs" for customers outside the municipality which legislates a measure. (AA2:436.) Accordingly, the 1989 Decision distinguishes utility user

AA[Volume]:[page number(s)].

taxes from other revenues a utility pays a city, because utility user taxes "are merely collected for the governmental entity by the utility" - i.e., the utility collects and remits the fee but does not pay it because it bears neither the legal nor the economic incidence of the tax. (AA2:438.)

Given its authority to regulate rates to protect consumers from utilities' monopoly pricing power, the PUC is necessarily concerned with the economic incidence of local revenue measures affecting regulated utilities. For the PUC's rate regulation, who ultimately pays a fee or charge matters. However, economic incidence is not a tool used by courts, for the reasons elaborated below. By ignoring case law's focus on legal rather than economic incidence of revenue measures, the Opinion allows PUC regulation of utility rate-making to infringe the home rule power of chartered cities to grant franchises, overlooking that the PUC and chartered cities are legislative equals as to the areas within their respective reaches.

Thus, it is the PUC's policy under the 1989 Decision to require a utility to state a line item on bills of ratepayers within the jurisdiction assessing a charge, fee, or tax that exceeds comparable revenue measures charged by other local governments. (AA2:444 at ¶ 16, AA2:446 at ¶ 3.) As chartered cities — but not general law cities and counties — have constitutional power to exceed the revenue limits of the 1937 Franchise Act, the 1989 Decision has particular implications for chartered cities' franchise fees.

The 1989 Decision requires utilities subject to charges — other than a utility users tax — which a utility or the PUC views as more than charged by other local governments — to seek an advice letter of the PUC. (AA2:445–447.) The PUC makes no distinction among taxes, fees, charges, assessments, or any other levies; it merely requires utilities seek advice letters for:

Franchise, general business license, or special taxes and/or fees upon the public utility which in the aggregate significantly exceed the average aggregate of taxes or fees imposed by the other local governmental entities within the public utility's service territory.

(AA2:445–446 at ¶1(a), emphasis added.) Thus, whether a local jurisdiction assesses a tax as defined in Proposition 218 and 26 or a fee exempt from voter-approval requirements, the PUC requires utilities to list separately on utility bills charges exceeding the average of local charges in the utility's service area. The 1989 Decision thus identifies revenue measures it views to exceed the average in a service area; it does not purport to determine the legal character of measures. Nor could it. The power of a chartered city to impose taxes, assessments and fees and charges of various types assured it by article XI, section 5 (home rule power of chartered cities) and section 7 (police power of all cities and counties). It is not for the PUC to circumscribe that constitutional authority.

III. SANTA BARBARA'S FRANCHISE FEE

Southern California Edison ("SCE") has held a franchise to use Santa Barbara's rights of way to distribute electricity in the City since at least 1959. (AA2:387–392.) The 1959 franchise agreement expired in 1984. (AA2:389 at § 2.) The City and SCE negotiated a new franchise agreement expiring in 1994. (AA2:394–401.) This agreement, consistently with the 1937 Franchise Act, required compensation of 2 percent "of the annual gross receipts of [SCE] arising from the use, operation or possession" of the franchise, but "in no event" less than 1 percent "of the annual gross receipts derived by [SCE] from the sale of electricity" within the City. (AA2:396 at § 4; see Pub. Util. Code, § 6231, subd. (c); County of Alameda v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1997) 51 Cal.App.4th 1691, 1696. When the franchise expired again in 1994, the parties agreed

¹² Jacks argued below that SCE held a constitutional franchise and the City could therefore charge no more than 1 percent of SCE's gross revenues derived from the sale of electricity. The trial court ruled Jacks presented insufficient evidence to prove the claim. (AA3:608–610.) The court also ruled that, as a chartered city, Santa Barbara is not limited to the rates authorized by the Broughton Act and the 1937 Franchise Act. (AA3:609–610.) Jacks does not challenge these rulings on appeal and the Opinion therefore does not address them.

¹³ The 1937 Franchise Act led many cities to adopt the 2 percent /

to five short extensions through December 1999 to negotiate a new, long-term agreement. (AA2:344 at $\P\P$ 6–7.)

In these negotiations, the City sought to increase the franchise fee from 1 to 2 percent of SCE's gross revenues in the City. (AA2:345 at ¶ 8.) SCE agreed, but only if it could recoup that cost from customers. (AA2:345 at ¶ 9.) Under the 1989 Decision, that required PUC approval and that SCE separately state the 1 percent increase on customers' bills. (*Ibid.*) Based in part on SCE's assurance it would pursue PUC consent to the increase, the parties agreed to a 30-year franchise agreement on December 7, 1999. (AA2:403–413.) Under that agreement, if SCE failed to pay the 2 percent franchise fee — either because the PUC refused to approve it or SCE failed to seek that approval — the City could terminate the franchise. (AA2:407 at § 6(E).) Indeed, if the Opinion stands, it will be sensible for the City to do so.

SCE did not immediately pursue PUC approval of the 1 percent increment given turmoil in the electricity market following California's famously failed experiment with energy deregulation. (AA2:348 at ¶ 17.) The franchise agreement required SCE to pay only the base 1 percent until the PUC approved the 1 percent

¹ percent language, but the 1 percent formula generally results in higher fees. (See *County of Alameda v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co.* (1997) 51 Cal.App.4th 1691, 1696.) As such, most utilities have paid franchise fees at the same rate for nearly 80 years.

increment. (AA2:406 at §§ 6(A), 6(C).) In November 2004, when energy markets stabilized, the City Council authorized a letter to SCE instructing it to seek PUC approval to recoup the 1 percent increment from customers. (AA2:348 at ¶¶ 18–19.) SCE did so on March 30, 2005 (AA2:468–471), and the PUC gave its approval April 20, 2005 (AA2:479). SCE has paid at the 2 percent rate since and — as the 1989 Decision requires — identified the 1 percent increment on customers' bills. (AA2:350 at ¶ 23.)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. THE TRIAL COURT FOUND THE SURCHARGE TO BE A TAX, BUT GRANDFATHERED BY PROPOSITION 26

Thirteen years after the City and SCE agreed on the current franchise, and seven and a half years after SCE began remitting 2 percent, Plaintiffs and Appellants Rolland Jacks and Rove Enterprises, Inc. (collectively, "Jacks") sued.

Jacks filed a First Amended Complaint ("FAC") on September 12, 2012. (AA1:063–080.) The FAC alleges the 1 percent increment in the franchise fee is a tax and unlawful because voters did not approve it. (AA1:076–077.)

The parties brought cross-motions for summary adjudication (and in the City's case, summary judgment) based primarily on stipulated facts. (AA2:343–351.) Jacks sought summary adjudication

of liability. (AA1:081–084.) The City sought summary judgment arguing, inter alia, that the parties to the franchise agreement intended the 1 percent increment to compensate the City for SCE's use of rights of way and that such franchise fees are not taxes. (AA3:500–527.)

The trial court denied both motions, but held that the 1 percent increment was not a tax under Proposition 218's article XIII C, section 2 but consideration for the franchise. (AA3:617.) However, the trial court did find the 1 percent increment to fall within Proposition 26's definition of "tax," rejecting the City's argument from article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e)(4)'s exemption from that definition for "[a] charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property" (AA3:617–620.) The trial court noted the parties had not briefed retroactive application of Proposition 26 to the 1 percent increment. (AA3:620.)

Recognizing the implicit invitation to do so, the City moved for judgment on the pleadings, arguing Proposition 26 is not retroactive and could not apply to a franchise fee agreed in 1999 — 11 years before adoption of Proposition 26 in November 2010. (AA3:622–628.) The trial court agreed and granted the motion. (AA1:16–20.) Judgment for the City entered on October 25, 2013, and Jacks timely appealed. (AA1:2–21, AA3:784–787.)

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL REVERSES, FINDING THE I PERCENT INCREMENT "AN ILLEGAL TAX MASQUERADING AS A FRANCHISE FEE"

Division Six of the Second District heard argument and submitted the matter on December 10, 2014. On January 26, 2015, the DCA requested supplemental letter briefs addressing the Third District's January 20, 2015 decision in *Citizens for Fair REU Rates v*. *City of Redding*, from which a petition for review is also pending. On February 26, 2015, the DCA issued its opinion ("the Opinion"), reversing the trial court and instructing it to grant summary adjudication to Jacks.

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