IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROLLAND JACKS and ROVE ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

v.

CITY OF SANTA BARBARA

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Of a Published Decision of the Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B253474

Regarding a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Barbara

Case No. 1383959

Honorable Thomas P. Anderle, Judge Presiding

HUSKINSON, BROWN & HEIDENREICH, LLP

David W.T. Brown (SBN 147321) Paul E. Heidenreich (SBN 116618) 1200 Aviation Boulevard, Suite 202 Redondo Beach, CA 90278 Telephone: (310) 545-5459

Email: huskinsonbrown@att.net

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

⁶E.g, Revenue and Taxation Code sections 6051, 7351 et seq and 8733 concerning gas and sales taxes.

burdens of the UUT proposes consideration of Appellants' Proposition 218 rights from the perspective of the false franchise fee hypothesis. State law does not have confusion or conflict as to this issue. Because the Surcharge financially burdens appellants [AA 3:676-680], the Proposition 218 analysis requires consideration of Appellants' rights, not an SCE-City contract. This Proposition 218 analysis triggers California Constitution Article XIII section 32, which provides the constitutional right to those paying taxes to contest taxation. The request for review seeks to create conflicting law that limits judicial analysis to a city's utility contract, rather than consideration of the enactment of the financial burdens upon Appellants. Such law would deny Plaintiffs' their Article 13 section 32 rights.

Next, the payers of the 1% Surcharge have due process rights to contest the City's "taking" of *their* finances, i.e. the imposition of the "economic incident' of the tax. There is no conflict as to the existence of *Appellants'* federal and state due process rights contest the City's taxation and this case is not about SCE franchise fees.

In Richards v. Jefferson County, Alabama (1996) 517 U.S. 793.

[Richards], the U.S. Supreme Court addressed a taxpayers' right to contest taxation and identified taxpayer Constitutional due process rights to contest taxation in a res judicata context.

The *Richards* taxpayer class action was filed in the Alabama Circuit Court. Several years prior, suit was filed by the director of finance for the City of Birmingham to contest the legality of the same tax. The director of finance's action was consolidated with a suit by three taxpayers. The consolidated action, *Bedingfield v. Jefferson County*, 527 So.2d 1270 [*Bedingfield*], was resolved when the Alabama Supreme Court upheld the legality of the tax. Thereafter, summary judgment was entered in the *Richards* class action based upon a res judicata application of *Bedingfield*. The *Richards* summary judgment was upheld by the Alabama Supreme Court. The matter was then appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court unanimously held that "the State Supreme Court's holding that petitioners are bound by the adjudication in *Bedingfield* deprived them of the due process of law guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment." *Richards* at 797. *Richards* identified each taxpayer's right to contest a previously paid tax as a **constitutionally protected** property interest, "a chose in action." *Richards* at 804.

Richards acknowledged that if Bedingfield had succeeded, it would have benefitted taxpayers. The Court then held that, in spite of this fact, application of res judicata against each taxpayer violated Federal Constitutional due process protections. Each taxpayer's constitutional right to contest wrongful taxation must be protected and analyzed by the courts. Petitioner's proposed analysis of their 1% Surcharge obligation as an SCE contract issue would deny taxpayers judicial

consideration of their rights as impinged by enactment of Ordinance 5135 and the financial burdens it imposed.

California courts have similarly held that constitutional due process applies to taxpayer actions. As stated in *Macy's Dept Stores, Inc. v. City and County of San Francisco* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 1444, 1449-1450:

"The parameters of state-afforded relief were made clear in *McKesson Corp. v. Florida Alcohol & Tobacco Div.* (1990) 496 U.S. 18 [110 L.Ed.2d 17, 110 S.Ct. 2238] (*McKesson*), where the Supreme Court held: "To satisfy the requirements of the Due Process Clause, . . . the State must provide taxpayers with, not only a *fair opportunity to challenge* the accuracy and legal validity of their tax obligation, but also a 'clear and certain remedy,' [citation], for any erroneous or unlawful tax collection to ensure that the opportunity to contest the tax is a meaningful one. [Emphasis added]" (*Id.* at p. 39, fn. omitted.)"

As the law is without conflict as to Appellants' constitutional rights to contest the City's imposition of financial burdens, and as the Decision applied those rights by considering the imposition of the tax from the perspective of those financially burdened, (1) the Petition should be denied and (2) law should not be created to preclude the judicial analysis that was performed by the Decision. As Proposition 218, due process and Article XIII section 32 uniformly do not allow for the judicial analysis of a wrongful tax from the perspective proposed by Petitioner, and do not allow a city authority to determine the Proposition 218 designations of a charge, the basis of the Petition fails.

VI. PROPOSITION 218, NOT THE OPINION, LIMITS CHARTER CITY HOME RULE AUTHORITY.

The Petition misrepresents charter city home rule authority <u>and</u>

Proposition 218 to claim a "conflict" in the law. At page 34, the Petition states:

"Thus, the Opinion vitiates as a tax under articles XIII A and XIII C what article XI, section 9, subdivision (b) and article XIII, section 8 define as a fee. This Court should grant review to harmonize these provisions."

Pages 8-11 and 32-34 of the Petition contend that a charter city's Article XI, section 5, 7 and 9 and Article XII section 8 authorities are adversely affected by the Decision's application of Proposition 218. The Petition contends that either (1) Proposition 218 *cannot* affect charter city powers or (2) the Decision is erroneous *because* Proposition 218 did not limit a city's powers to impose the Ordinance 5135 charges. In either respect, the Petition claims that the application by the Decision of Proposition 218 to Ordinance 5135 creates a conflict in law because the Decision burdened charter city home rule and contracting rights.

The Primary flaws to the argument are twofold. First, the Appellants were not parties, to or financially burdened by, a city franchise agreement. Further, the SCE-City franchise agreement was not determined by the Decision to have been an improper use of city contracting authority. [AA 3:676-681] Contrary to the Petitioner's claims about conflicting law, the Decision does not limit or affect charter city contracting rights. Second, because Article XIIIC section 1(b) applies to charter cities, Proposition 218 limits charter city powers to financially burden citizens. Howard Jarvis Taxpayer Association v City of Roseville (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1178, See also, Silicon Valley, 44 Cal.4th 431, Greene v. Marin

County Flood Control and Water Conservation Dist. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 277, 297 [109 Cal.Rptr.3d 620] (Greene), Santa Clara County Local Transportation

Authority, v. Guardino (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220. Because, Proposition 218 and the Decision are in agreement as to the limitations imposed on cities to enact financial burdens, the Petition fails. Further, because the Decision does not impose limits on charter city contracting authority, no conflict of law exists.

VII. PROPOSITION 26 HAS NO APPLICATION.

A. INTRODUCTION.

While the City was before the trial court and court of appeal,

Petitioner sought to avoid the broad Proposition 26 definition of "tax" upon
the 1% Surcharge. The trial court specifically found that the Proposition
218 requirement that a city obtain voter approval of taxes would implicate
Ordinance 5135 if the Proposition 26 definition of "tax" applied. In other
words, if Proposition 26 applied retroactively, the trial court would have
denied the City's MSJ and granted Appellants MSJ. [AA 1:8-18]

Petitioner successfully argued that Proposition 26 is irrelevant to this litigation because it did not apply retroactively. [AA 3:622-639, 3:650-675 and 3:764-783] The trial court therefore did not deny the City's MSJ.

In a reversal of these arguments, Petitioner contends at pages 24-27 that Proposition 26 applies and the failure of the lower courts to apply it with Proposition 218 to create a conflict in the law. Petitioner seems to

contend that the Decision, which does not rely upon Proposition 26, creates a conflict in interpreting Proposition 26 because Proposition 26 should have been applied. As to these issues, the Decision states:

"The [trial] court found that the 1% surcharge does constitute a tax under the 2010 amendments to article XIII C of the California Constitution brought about by Proposition 26. Ultimately, however, the court ruled that Proposition 26's definition of "tax" does not apply retrospectively to the 1999 franchise agreement. Accordingly, the court entered judgment in favor of the City. [Emphasis added]"

The Decision did not overturn the trial court finding and Petitioner did not appeal the trial court's Proposition 26 decision. Therefore, the claim that the Decision creates a conflict in law over the interpretation of Proposition 26 fails (1) because the issue was waived on appeal by the City (See *Redevelopment Agency v. City of Berkeley* (1978) 80 Cal.App.3d 158, 167) and (2) because the Decision necessarily cannot conflict with law as to issues that it did not address.

B. TERMS OF PROPOSITION 26 AND DEFINITION OF TAXES.

Proposition 26 was intended to further the Proposition 13, 62 and 218 limits on local government taxation practices. The Proposition 26 findings and declaration of purpose states:

"The people of the State of California find and declare that:

(a) Since the people overwhelmingly approved Proposition 13 in 1978, the Constitution of the State of

California has required that increases in state taxes be adopted by not less than two—thirds of the members elected to each house of the Legislature.

- (b) Since the enactment of Proposition 218 in 1996, the Constitution of the State of California has required that increases in local taxes be approved by the voters.
- (c) Despite these limitations, California taxes have continued to escalate. Rates for state personal income taxes, state and local sales and use taxes, and a myriad of state and local business taxes are at all—time highs. Californians are taxed at one of the highest levels of any state in the nation.
- (e) This escalation in taxation does not account for the recent phenomenon whereby the Legislature and local governments have disguised new taxes as 'fees' in order to extract even more revenue from California taxpayers without having to abide by these constitutional voting requirements. Fees couched as 'regulatory' but which exceed the reasonable costs of actual regulation or are simply imposed to raise revenue for a new program and are not part of any licensing or permitting program are actually taxes and should be subject to the limitations applicable to the imposition of taxes.
- (f) In order to ensure the effectiveness of these constitutional limitations, this measure also defines a 'tax' for state and local purposes so that neither the Legislature nor local governments can circumvent these restrictions on increasing taxes by simply defining new or expanded taxes as 'fees.' " (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2010) text of Prop. 26, § 1, p. 114; see Historical Notes, 2A West's Ann. Cal. Const., supra, foil. art. XIII A, § 3, pp. 141-142.)"

Petitioner's claim that its labeling of the Ordinance 5135 tax as a "fee" removes it from the definition of "taxes" in Proposition 26 is without support. Proposition 26 defines "taxes" very broadly. Proposition 26 amended section 1 of article XIII C of the California Constitution to read:

- (a) 'General tax' means any tax imposed for general governmental purposes.
- (b) 'Local government' means any county, city, city and county, including a <u>charter city</u> or county, any special district, or any other local or regional governmental entity.
- (e) As used in this article, 'tax' means any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government, except the following:
- (1) A charge imposed for a specific benefit conferred or privilege granted directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of conferring the benefit or granting the privilege.
- (2) A charge imposed for a specific government service or product provided directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of providing the service or product. . . .
- (4) A charge imposed for <u>entrance to or use of</u> <u>local government property</u>, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property." [emphasis added]

As the utility users who pay of the charges do not receive rights to enter or use government property and did not contract with SCE or the City to pay the charges, Petitioner's "contract" and "fee" arguments fail. The Surcharge is a Proposition 26 tax. Additionally, if Petitioner had wished to apply Proposition 26 to the Surcharge during the case, it would have had to address these issues based upon its Proposition 26 burdens:

"The local government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are

allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity."

As the Stipulations provide that the charges are paid by utility users based upon the City Ordinance and as there are no Stipulations that SCE does more than collect and remit the taxes [AA 2:343-351 and 3:676-681], the Petitioner's discussion about Proposition 26 and franchise fees is legally and factually void.

Lastly, the Petition at pages 24 to 27 contends that Propositions 26 and 218 could not defeat a charter city's municipal authority under Article XI section 9 and Article XIII section 8 to contract and to enter franchise agreements. From these arguments, it appears (without the Petition so stating), that Petitioner seeks a finding that Proposition 218, Article XIIIC Section 1(b) is unconstitutional if Proposition 218 affects a charter city contracting rights. These arguments are inapplicable because the 1% Surcharge is not a contractual franchise fee but, as Stipulated by the parties, was imposed by city ordinance [AA 2:343-351 and 3:676-681]. There is not conflict in the law between Propositions 26, 218 and a Charter City's rights to enter franchises with a utility. Therefore, the Petition fails.

C. A CONFUSING PETITION IS NOT A BASIS FOR REVIEW.

The Petition, by a jumbled, complicated, rather incoherent recitation of bits and pieces of Proposition 26 and Proposition 218 issues, CPUC authority, and charter city home rule powers, attempts to paint a picture of law in chaos and conflict. However, because Petitioner's claims are without factual support (i.e. the 1% surcharge is not a franchise fee) and because Petitioner does not address the applicable definitions of UUTs or franchise fees (which are not in conflict), the Petition is unsupportable.

The Petition's attempt to create confusion fails because it does not identify conflicting law as to relevant Proposition 218 issues or as to the definitions of taxes and franchise fees. Petitioner's claim that charter city rights are disturbed by the Decision fails because the Decision does not address or disturb the City's contract with SCE and because Proposition 218 lawfully applies to charter cities to limit their authority to enact UUTs. E.g., Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. City of Roseville (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1178, 1186 and California Constitution Article XIIIC Section 1(b). In fact, case law uniformly interprets Proposition 218 as limiting cities' imposition of financial burdens upon citizens. Greene and Silicon Valley.

The Petition fails because the Decision identified the issues, addressed the Appellants constitutional rights, did not assume facts, and did not create conflicts of law. The Decision correctly identified applicable law

and fact, applied them to one another and determined that the enactment of Ordinance 5135 violated Appellants' Proposition 218 rights.

The Petitioner's attempt to cite broad, inapplicable categories of law as requiring clarification and harmonization fails. The Decision was correct, did not conflict with any Proposition 218 cases, and properly applied the Stipulations. Therefore, the Petition fails.

VII. CONCLUSION.

For the above stated reasons, Appellants request that the Court deny the Petition for Review.